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)
DECISION AND ORDER ON THE PARTIES’ CROSS MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT ON
| THE PLEADINGS
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BAQ! KGOUND
The following factual/procedural backgrounds are takeni from the underlying
administrative record (citations omitted) and are not materially Edisputed by the parties.
Finneran was elected to the Massachusetts House of Re:;%”T resentatives (“House”) fn 1978,

and became a member of the House in 1979, serving the 121 Sl:'kﬁolk District. He was tp-elected

every two years, and he served as a member of the House until
The House elected Finneran Spéaker of the House five times, d he served in that capg
he resigned, and at all times pertinent to the events underlying 1
House, Finneran took an oath of office in which he pledged to s pport the Constitution
- Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the United States Constii tion and to perform his

representative “agreeably to the rules and regulations of the Coi

Commonwealth.”

his resignaticn in Octobgr 2004.

city until

his appeal. As a membeyr of the

Pf the

duties as

nstitution and Laws of the
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The Redistricting Act of 2001 (St. 2001, c. 125) was enagted during J'inneran’s tenure as

Speaker. As of result on the 2000 decennial census, the Legislat‘ ure established a joint special

|

committee (the “Committes”) to review existing legislative dist%mts and forrnulate revis

|
alterations to reflect the increase in the Commonwealth’s population. The House memb
pop

ons and

brs of the

Committee were responsible for reviewing and redrawing the House districts and the Sepate

i
members were responsible for the Senate districts. Finmeran, as{ Speaker, appointed boﬂJ the

House members of the Committee and the House Chair of the Cpmmittee. The process

3

redrawing district lines is required, following population changés reflected i1 a decennial census,

by the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment off the United States Cons
to comply with the one-person, one-vote requirement. The Legé slature enacted a final
redistricting plan, and, on November 8, 2001, the Governor sigr%ted the Redistricting Act
Among other changes, the plan increased the proportion of eligif:ble white volers in Pu%g

o

In June 2002, Aftican-American and Latino voters filed i lawsuit in the Federaf’

~2

Court challenging the Redistricting Act as it applied to House di

i

lawsuit claimed that the Redistricting Act, which redrew the boundaries of s:ate House §

2001, “super-packed” black and other minority voters into a fe districts alrcady repres

12t Syffolk District. o

i o

Hitution,

into law.

Eran

2
[~

- 120 5]

b

.
istries

H

tricts in the Boston afg: T@

P> B

LN
eats 1

ented by

minority incumbents while increasing the percentage of white voters in the districts reinesented

by white incumbents. The Plaintiffs claimed that Finneran’s dis

certain minority precincts and add other primarily white prGCimff»ts. The suit alleged that

districts were redrawn with the constitutionally impermissible piurpose of limiting the vpting

power of African-American and Latino voters and had the effect of discriminating agair

voters, contrary to the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973(b). EThe lawsuit named the

ict was redrawn to remove

the

st such

Y
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s
o
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Defendants in their official capacities, among others, Finneran ag

F. Galvin as Secretary of the Commonwealth, and Jane Swift as

Speaker of the House,

Governor. In May 2003

No. 3052

P.

William

, Al

amended complaint only named Secretary Galvin as defendant, lfut Finneran was depossld in the

course of the lawsuit and testified at trial in November 2003.
At trial, Finneran testified to the actions he took, and the

drafting and passage of the Redistricting Act, both in his role as

member and representative from the 12th Suffolk District. Sped)
as Speaker, he had appointed the Committee Chair and recommé
Attorney Lawrence DiCara during the process as counsel and ths
the Chair and Attorney DiCara during the process. Finneran fals
did not review the Committee’s redistricting plan during the draf
the redistricting after the plan was filed with the House Clerk. A
plea, Finneran attributed his false testimony to finding the allegz%x
discrimination “very, very troubling,” “offen[sive],” and “angerﬂ
In June 2005, a federal prand jury indicted Finneran for

count of obstruction of justice (Count Four), based on his false t§

in the Voting Rights lawsuit, Count Four of the Indictment chaxfg

misleading statements about (a) whether he had received a rcdisﬁticting plan |>ridr to the

the Committee plan with the Clerk of the House of Representatiy
information about the Committee’s proposed changes to his distﬁ

Representative Thomas Petrolati, House Chaiman of the Joint S

kﬁowledge that he had,
s

D>

fically, Finreran testifig

et

tions of inte:tional

ng] .77

red that Finr.eran made

Redistricting and Reapportionment, about the plan prior to its reTasc to the fi1ll House;

whether he had knowledge of the scope of work performed by L

peaker of the House an

nded the Committee hiy

it he had conversations:

ely testified at the triglghat T}é
o =1

ting process and thatiié_’

<1
t the time of enteringthy

hree counts of perjury aj

res; (b) when he first ha
ict; (c) whether he spok

pecial Comrnittee on th

wrence Di(ara, counss

on the
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d that, -
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(¥e)

1d one

:stimony at deposition ahd trial
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filing of
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Committee, in the development of the plan; (¢) whether he had j

and control regarding the racial characteristics of the precincts lis district lost and gaing

redistrictihg beyond that included in his deposition; (f) the extent of his knowledge, at t

his deposition, regarding neighborhoods that had been removed

District during redistricting and the racial characteristics of thos

whether he had within his possession a calendar that would evicb

¥

I

events. On January 5, 2007, Finneran pleaded guilty to Count

1503, and was sentenced to probation for 18 months and ordered to pay a $25,000 fine,

remaining counts were dismissed. The charge to which F irmereim pleaded guilty “was th

1

[Finneran] willfully had made misleading and false statements ﬁnder oath while testifyip

capacity as Speaker in [the] Federal voting rights lawsuit.” Thtfs
Indictment were dismissed. |

In January 2007, the State Retirement Board (the “Boanéi
retirement allowance due to his conviction. The Board schg\dhl%
officer, and a hearing was ultimately held on April 24, 2012. B;
the hearing officer coﬁcluded.that Finneran’s conviction involvéa
to his office ot position. Among other things, the hearing ofﬁce;

was acting in his official capacity when he took the actions that;

was sued in his official capacity . . . The subject matter of his te§

his official duties: The questions and answers that gave rise to Qomt Four ol'the Indictrhent

concetned actions he took or may have taken, as a Member and|

Representatives, with respect to the development of a legislatiqu

districts that has the pofential to — and did — become the law in I\

i
i
]

e neighborhoods; and (g

No. 3052 P 5

nformation within his chstody

our, In violation of 18 U
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officer found that, consistent with his oath to uphold the Constit\itions, Finneran was required to

give truthful testimony to a Court assessing the constitutionality,
conviction warranted forfeiture of his retirement allowance. On

voted to accept the Hearing Officer’s decision and recommenda;

3

of a legislative act such

ineligible for a retirement allowance. This appeal ensued in acc
STANDARD OF REVIEW
My review of the Board’s decision is limited to the recot

the Board has committed an error of law or whether substantial

“Substantial evidence” is “such evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequatd

L

support a conclusion. Doherty v. Retirement Bd. of Medford, 4
(1997)(citations omitted). Under the substantial evidence test, a

de novo determinations of facts, to make different credibility chjk

the facts found by the agency. Doherty, 425 Mass. 135, 141. S';

P. 12(c).
The contested issue in the instant case relates to the partii

fhe scope and applicability of G. L. c. 32, § 15 (4) to Finneran’s

allowance. G.L. c. 32, § 15(4) (“§ 15(4)”) provides in relevant éqaart:

In no event shall any member after final conviction of a:i
violations of the laws applicable to his office or position

ordance with G.L. c. 32,

'd‘ before the Board and ]

gvidence supiport its cony

limited to the record before the Board, judgment on the pleadinjg,s is appropriate. Mass.
!

criminal offinse involvi

v

»S Mass. 130, 135

™
reviewing court may Y
hices, or to draw inferef

nce this Court’s review

es' opposing contention|

ostensible accrued retis]

be entitled to receive g

retirement allowance . . . nor shall any beneficiary be e

itled to receive any ben

on account of such member. The said member or his bé

otherwise prohibited by law, a return of his accumulated

{

Emphasis added.

In terms of statutory interpretation, the SJC has made cl}:ar, where a reviewing ¢

deductions .. .

ion that Firmeran be foy
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October 25, 2012, the Board
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§ 16(3).
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called upon to interpret the terms of a statute, the court must 10(!:

ascertained from all [the statute's] words construed by the ordin

language, considered in connection with the cause of its enactm

1 v. Rollins, 286 Mass.

to be remedied and the main object to be accomplished.” Hanlo

(1934), and cases cited. See also Sullivan v. Brookline, 435 Ma

because § 15(4) is penal in nature, the interpretation thereof m

5t be narrow. $0 as not ti

the scope or reach of the penalty as contemplated by the Legislature. Garnev v. Massac

No. 3052

k "to the intent of the L

ry and approved usage

55, 353, 360 (2001). M

P 7

of the

ent, the mischief or imperfection

144, 447
reover,
h exceed

usetts

Bd. of Retirement v. B

ulger,

Teachers’ Retirement System, 469 Mass. 384, 389 (2014); Staté

446 Mass. 169, 174-175 (2006); Collatos v. Boston Retirement:

(1986) (G. L. . 32, § 15, "imposes a penalty on employees" ang "enforce[s] the crimis

|

suspending the sword of retirement benefits forfeiture over thoé;

might be tempted to transgress").

Massachusetts appellate authority has further focused aéreviewing court’s § 15(4;

analysis by holding that "[t]he substantive touchstone [of G. L
General Court is criminal activity connected with the office or1%“,
did not intend pension forfeiture to follow as [an automatic con%\
convictions. Only those violations related to the member's ofﬁcy

Looking to the facts of each case for a direct link between the ol

|
office or position best effectuates the legislative intent of § 15 (;

Contributory Retirement Appeal Bd. 423 Mass. 1, 4-5 (1996). ;I‘his "direct link" requirs

"does not mean that the crime itself must reference public empli
particular position or responsibilities," Maher v. Justices of the%

Dep't., 67 Mass. App. Ct. 612, 616 (2006), or that the crime neo

¢ employees who othe :

c. 32, § 15 (#),] intende
osition. . . . [The Gene
sequence] of any and all
a] capacity were targets
riminal offense and the |

Lf)" (emphasis added). G

yment or the employee

Ruincy Div. of the Dist

essarily must have been

Bd., 396 Meiss. 684, 68

criminal
d.
member's
affney v.
pment

8

Court

egislature
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committed at or during work. Durkin v. Boston Retirement Bd.,

No. 3052 P 8

83 Mass. App. Ct. 116,119

(2013). Where the crime itself does not reference public employment or bear a ditect fatual link

through use of the position's resources, however, there must be s

. i
the criminal offense and the employee's official capacity by way
to the public position. Garney, 469 Mass. at 389.

DISCUSSION

Introduction

Turning to the issue whether the Board's decision that Fij
legally tenable, I conciude that it is not. Although the record im’ii
referenced his public employment, inasmuch as the position Firi

perjured testimony and at all times relevant thereto, there is no s

House Member and/or Speaker. Additionally, there is also no s}
Board’s conclusion that Finneran’s conviction violated a core
Member and/or Speaker because there is no evidence in the rec(;
|
applicable to Finneran’s public position that connects his convié:
Accordingly, the Board’s decision must be reversed. .

Discussion

A. No Direct Link

actual link to his posiffjpasy i 1

ome direct connection hetween

of the laws directly applicable

nneran must forfeit his gension is

licates that Finneran’s cpnviction

—g—

heran held al the time of his

hWbstantjal evidence to sfipport-
-

oA

——

i

A l i
bstantial evidence to sy E‘portﬂxe T
=

A ]

g 2 M
inction of his position aF &House T
’ L

rd of any code, rule or law «

tion with hi: office.

First, there is no substantial evidence in the record to coficlude that there is a dirpot link

i

between Finneran’s conviction and his position as a Member ariid/or Speake: of the House. The

Board concluded otherwise, stating in relevant part:

In this case, the facts show that the link between Mr. Fi
~ for which he was convicted is both direct and clear. It ig

7

ineran’s position and th¢ offense
¢ irrefutable that Mr. Firneran
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i

was acting in his officia] capacity when he took the actigns that gave rise to this
conviction. He was sued in his official capacity . . and he was called to testify fn his
official capacity. The subject matter of his testimony was also directly tied to his official
duties: The question and answers which gave rise to Cot}nt Four of the Indictmept
concerned actions he took or may have taken, as a Member and Speaker of the Fouse of
Representatives, with respect to the development of a legislative proposal to reappoint
voting districts that has the potential to — and did — beco, e the law in Massachuketts, It
is inescapable that the core function of a legislator is to ihtroduce, consider, and vote on
legislation. It is equally clear that the role of Speaker ad s additional responsibilities to
ensure that the legislative process is conducted in a manner that ensures importaht
legislation is fairly evaluated and considered. ;

|
Moreover, the Complaint . . . raised the issue of the coné Htutionality of state legislation,
and the impact that the 1egxslatwn would have on one of| the most fundamental rights in
our democracy: the right to vote. Mr, Finneran has takefi an oath to uphold both|the
Constitution of the United States and the Constitution ofithe Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. As applied to his office, that required Mr. Finneran to use his bejt ability
to ensure the constitutionality of all legislation that mlghL be passed by the Hous¢. That
responsibility did not end at the State House door; it continued to app [y to the 2001
Redistricting Act when affected voters brought their cla1 s to the U.6. District Gourt. At
that point, adherence to the Oath of Office required Mr. Finneran to assist the Copurt, to
the best of his ability, to fairly and objectively assess the constitution: ity of the 2001~

Redistricting Act and the process that led to its enactmerif. Mr. Finneran’s duti _'_"as acn o
legislator and the mandate of his oath thus gave him a helghtened obligation to ,j;; 4 ot
forthcoming with the Court, in order to enable it to make a fair decision on the @iestio —

before it.

I1sl ML
L, M

-
; s =
Instead, Mr. Finneran’s testimony led to a conviction for:;l Fcorruptly endeavoringfo. &2 J
obstruct the due administration of justice by making knowing and willful false oz " )
mis]eading statements or declarations under oath on Novfgc;mber 14, 20103, while tgstifying
at trial in the United States District Court”. A critical isi%he before the: U.S. District Court
was the actions the Legislature had taken in developing the redistricting plan; obstructing
the administration of justice was not just a crimina] act, i was a violalion of Mr.

Finneran’s obligations and his oath as an elected member of the Geneyal Court of the
Commonwealth.

i

I therefore find that the crime for which Mr. Finneran has been convicted is a crime
involving laws applicable to his office or position.

See Administrative Record at pp. 305-306 (internal citations omitted).

"4 oath to upbold both the United

|
States and Massachusetts Constitutions required him to use his by

I disagree. Although the Board concluded that Finneran

st ability to ensure the

constitutionality of all legislation that might be passed by the Ho se, the record does not findicate
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that any such duty existed. Moreover, Finneran was not charged with, nor pleaded guilfy to, any

wrongdoing in connection with the legislative process leading up to the House redistricling and

reapportionment plan or whether the plan was unconstitutional }

link” analysis seems to adopt a "but for" standard for the foﬁeiﬁLre of Finneran’s pensian

benefits. The assumption is that "but for" Finneran’s status as I

The Board’s “direct factual

Member and/or Speaker of the

House when he testified on November 14, 2003, about events that happened in 2001, hq would

not have been in a position to perjure himself at trial. The obvigus problem with such an

assumption is the generality of its application to any crime that Finneran may have partfcipated

in that is unconnected to his work as a Jegislator, but that can alyays be conunected to hik status as

a legislator. The Board's seeming "but for" standard cannot be teconciled to the plain lejnguage

of the statute which mandates that the conviction of a criminal :gffense involve violaﬁ'gﬁi‘bf

|
laws applicable to the office or position, and not merely be incis
E

Mass. at 4 (§ 15(4) “is considered penal and, therefore, its langlage must be construed

: |
not stretched to accomplish an unexpressed result.”). Stated dif

enta] thereto).

&R
- S,
S/
Gaffnew23, ~—
e e T
_ m oggy, '
1w T

Lo T vl
erently, if Finneran’s ¢f . (o

2 o

- employment status alone is all that is needed to establish the stthtorily mandated nexuq between

the crime and the office, there will never be a situation where ajlegislator can be conviced of a

crime, unrelated to his legislative duties and functions, without,wforfeiting his or her penyion.

Perforce, the nexus requirement of § 15(4) is rendered meaningf].ess .

2

1]t bears noting that the Federal court invalidated the plan fo?l violating section 2 of the{Voting

Rights Act. The court did not reach the federal constitutional issues.

? Several recent cases have underscored the fatality to retirement forfeiture claims abseft the
statutorily required factual link. See, e.g., Retirement Bd. of Maynard v. Tyler, 83 Mass. App. Ct. 109,

113 (2013) (no forfeiture where fire fighter sexually abused boys because offenses were "personal in
nature, occurring outside the firehouse while [fire fighter] was not on|duty," and "ro evidence that [fire

fighter] used his position, uniform, or equipment for the purposes of his indecent arts"); Scully

Retirement Bd. of Beverly, 80 Mass. App. Ct. 538, 543, 545 (2011) @E

employee convicted of possession of child pornography because offef

9

=

o forfeiture where public|library
ses occurred at home on personal
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The underlying facts are clear. The Redistricting Act w ’

was still Speaker. The lawsuit was filed in 2002 when Finneran
sued in his official capacity as Speaker. In 2003, while Finnera
deposed in the course of the lawsuit and testified at trial in Nov
that he falsely testified at the trial that he did not review the redi
process, and that he first saw the redistricting plan after it was fi
that he subsequently was indicted in 2005 and pleaded guilty to

"making false or misleading statements” about seven different a

was still Spsaker and h

was still Speaker he wi

tricting plan during the
ed with the House Cler
ourt Four, inter alia, ¢

tions he had taken as a

Member and Speaker. Nevertheless, the record does not suppor
either used his office to comumit the crime, or that he was perfon

Member or Speaker of the House when he testified at trial.

As the Appeals Court noted, § 15(4) “is not triggered wPa
: !

sparks an investigation, but where there is ‘a direct link betwee]{the public position and

offense for which the member is convicted’.” Scully 80 Mass

narrow statutory construction, only a conviction arising out of t}j}e legislative: process its

Finneran’s role as a legislator) would establish the requisite “dit

forfeiture. While I do not ignore the seriousness of Fiuneran's ¢

computer, and employee did not use position to facilitate crime); Herti

ming any official duties

ect link™ to tngger pens
|

§60

el

ere some W()rk-relate(%

543. In actordance \;1

onviction, nor the consg

ick v. Essex Fegional Reti

enacted in 2001 when

ber 2003. There is nd

-1 .
b
K

E was
1S
dispute
drafting
<, and

T

LOUSG

the conclusion that Finneran

s

30

- 13861

rondust
EC)

| X,
R
~€ne w

th thie

plf (and

on

quential

rement

Bd., 77 Mass. App. Ct. 645, 646-647, 654 (2010) (no forfeiture where

housing authority custodi

convxcted of indecent assault and battery of daughter because offense ot committed on public j
against anyone who resided there, and otherwise had no connection t¢ custodian's official positi
Contrast Gaffney, 423 Mass. st 4, 5 (forfeiture where superintendent pf town water and sewer d
convicted of larceny because superintendent tasked with managing bydget and stol: from own
department);
and battery by means of dangerous weapon for shooting another officer with department-issued
while intoxicated off duty); Maher, 67 Mass. App. Ct. at 616-617 (forfeiture where city inspectq
convicted of breaking into city hall and stealing documents from owri/personnel fil: because "m
direct links" between offenses and position). i

10

Durkin, 83 Mass. App. Ct. 116 (2013) (forfeiture where;police officer convicted of
firearm

an
roperty or

n).

bpartment

assault

T

ultiple,

Finneran

————

-
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I

impact that certainly had on the public trust, given the narrow iil?terpretatio:x of § 15(4) by our
|
appellate courts, I am constrained to conclude that the facts unc;lsrlying his conviction dp not

present the “type of direct link intended by the Legislature.” Lc_il

|
B. Core Function As A Legislator |
!

Aside from the “direct factual link” argument, the Board alternately wontends that

|
{
1
1

Finneran’s pension must be forfeited because his conviction violated a “core: function” ¢f his

position that violated a clear rule of his position. Absent a direci;t factual link (as I conclude is the
|

case here), § 15(4) may only be applied to a criminal convictior;; based upon off-duty cohduct if

the facts underlying the conviction are determined to violate a ci;:ntral function of the Qﬁ, bliccn
i ¢}

! . . « Ry
employee’s position as articulated in applicable laws, thereby creating a direct link torl

: i
*

-

—erira
«l

(o)
(]
—
1
e

position. Garney, 469 Mass. at 391. Even under this alternative% theory, I find that no %@}staggal 7

&

evidence supports the Board’s conclusion and its decision canndt stand.

_NQISIA)

AR\ B 1)
- T

£5:€

The Board defined a legislator’s core function as:
. . . the core function of a legislator is to introduce, consif;[er, and vote on legislation. It is
equally clear that the role of Speaker adds additional responsibilities to ensure that the

legislative process is conducted in a manner that ensuresijmportant lejsislation is fairly
evaluated and considered. !

The record includes no citation to any authority to support the Bcl ard’s definilion of a House
Member’s core function, or any additional responsibilities of the.[House Speaker. Even if I
accept the Board’s definition of a legislator’s core function, howiever, the recird does nof

indicate any specific rule, code, regulation or statute that direcﬂy; applied to Finneran as g House

Member and/or Speaker to support the “nexus” re uirement to justify forfeiture. Again, the only
P p q ju

(4]

applicable oaths supported by the record is the general oaths Finrzxera.n swore 10 uphold t
United States and Massachusetts Constitutions, and to perform his duties as a legislator

“agreeably to the rules and regulations™ of the Commonwealth. .Aside from tlese general oaths,

11
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the record is silent as to any specific statute, rule, regulation, degision, ethics code or clgar public

policy that Finneran breached with his conviction. Cf, Bulget, 446 Mass. at 179 (“When Bulger

committed the crimes of perjury and obstruction of justice, he vj

olated the fundamental {enets of

the code and of his oath of office . . .”). Finneran was not convicted of violating any state laws,

rules, regulations or constitutional provisions for his false statenj
: a

be reasonably construed as a clear rules or laws applicable to Fif

legislator or Speaker.

The Board’s reliance on Bulger is misplaced. Bulger, m:I Finneran, swore a general oath
i

to uphold the United States and Massachusetts Constitutions. UI
as a Clerk-Magistrate, was subject to the Code of Professional RI
Courts (the “Code”), S.J.C. Rule 3:12, as amended, 427 Mass. 17
Bulger similarly argued that Bulger violated his oaths to uphold‘
of the Board’s argument, and an important focus of the SJC’s dé

was Bulger’s violation of the Code — specific rules and regula‘um

Cletk-Magistrates — as it related to a Clerk-Magistrate’s core fun

explained:

iction. As Justice Cordy

ents, nor cari these gengral oaths

ineran’s core responsibilities as a

like Finneran, howevet, Bulger,
esponsibility for Clerks|of the

22. Although the Edard i
’ ] (e}

-

o
{1
the two consititution
"D

of m@ ITi
o r——

ns applicable to the ggsﬂtxomf

BT I

if]e thrust ——-
P -
rf

5::
o
cision in upholding ifg
<

Our decision in Bulger . . . did not call for forfeiture whe!kllever a special public tryist is

violated. Rather, the court concluded that forfeiture was §
magistrate's specific criminal conduct, perjury and obsﬂu
contrary to the most fundamental tenets of his position, td
matters and proceedings and to uphold the integrity of thg
tenets and responsibilities were embodied in the Code of]

varranted where a clerk;
ction of justice, was dirgctly
ensure trutl-telling in judicial
judicial system. Id. These
Professiona] Responsibility for

Clerks of the Courts, S.J.C. Rule 3:12, as amended. 427 1\
applicable to his position.

Garney supra at 392 (emphasis added)(citaﬁons omitted),

[ass. 1322 (1998) (codd), a law

Similarly in Retirement Bd. of Somerville v. Buonomo, 467 Mass. 662 , 663 (2014), the

SJC concluded that a register of probate violated the laws applic;'e

12

ible to his office by comimitting
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I
larceny, embezzlement, and associated crimes, because the codé requires clerks and regjsters "to
contribute to the preservation of public confidence in the integrfnty, impartiality, and

independence of the courts" and to "comply with the laws of th{: Commonwtalth." Buohomo,

467 Mass. at 670-671. Accordingly, the SJC determined that his conduct "compromisti the
integrity of and public trust in the office of register of probate" and therefore explicitly yiolated

the core function of his position as embodied in the provisions f the code. [luonomo, sypra at
{

671.

Here, the record does not indicate any substantial eviderice to conclude that Finneran’s

1
1
t

specific criminal conduct, obstruction of justice, was directly céntrary to the: most fundamental

S o g
tenets of his position as a House Member and/or Speaker, nor does the record indicate any such

cognate code, rule or court decision, etc., applicable to House h?[embers andor Speakergithat g
; <8 . T
. C . . ; . " s '
would provide the requisite nexus between the offending acts and the public position asffhigre , ——
was in Bulger and Buonomo. Even ifit could be argued that agja House Member and/of; :E = 7Tl
- e O

Speaker, Finneran violated the public trust implicit, if not expli;c it, to his position as an gl
member of the Massachusetts House of Representatives, the nazrrow basis for the SIC’s holdmgs
in M and Buonomo make clear that G.L.c.32,§15(4), requires some’hing more $pecific
than a general violation of the public trust in the particular puch position. (Criminal conduct
that is merely inconsistent with a concept of special public trus’g placed in the position or defiant

H
!

of a general professional norm applicable to the position, but nigjt violative of a fundamgntal

precept of the position gmbodied in a law applicable to it, may ibe adequate o warrant dismissal,
but it is insufficient to justify forfeiture under G. L. ¢. 32, § 15 Q4) Bulger, 446 Mass. at 179-

180; Gaffhey, 423 Mass. at 4-5. (emphasis added). The genera:l oaths that Finneran tool( are not
|

sufficiently specific to his office or position for the Court to coflclude that the Board has
i

13
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sustained its burden of substantial evidence conceming this pro
plain language of § 15 (4), requires a direct link between the cr

the laws applicable to the office and I do not find that exists in 1

The Board’s underlying decision is not based on substax

pleadings is DENIED. The plaintiff's motion for judgment on|
Finneran’s retirement allowance is Liereby ordered REINSTA E

=

{
Serge Gegtges, Jr)
Associgie Justice

BM(G/- Do}ﬁchester

Board’s termination.

So ordered.

Dated: October 9, 2015

No. 3057

1

g of the § 15(4) analysi

CONCLUSION

ninal offense and a vio}

[

h

i

Board’s decision is HEREBY set aside and REVERSED and

1s case.

tial evidence:, Therefor
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